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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 
JOSEPH W. PRINCE , et al.     :   CIVIL ACTION 
                      : 
 v.           : 
                     :   
BAC HOME LOANS SERVICING, L.P., et al.  :  NO. 16-cv-1544 

                      
ORDER 

 
AND NOW, this 8th day of August 2017, upon consideration of Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss the Second Amended Complaint (Doc. No. 23), Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition 

(Doc. No. 25), and Defendants’ Reply (Doc. No. 28), it is hereby ORDERED:  

1. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss the Second Amended Complaint (Doc. No. 23) is 
GRANTED in part and DENIED in part.  

 
a. With respect to the claim pursuant to Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41, in 

Count I of the Second Amended Complaint (Doc. No. 22), Defendants’ 
Motion to Dismiss (Doc. No. 23) is GRANTED. Count I of the Second 
Amended Complaint is DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE. 

 
b. With respect to Count II of the Second Amended Complaint (Doc. No. 22), 

Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (Doc. No. 23) is GRANTED. Count II of the 
Amended Complaint DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE.  

 
c. With respect to Count III of the Second Amended Complaint (Doc. No. 22), 

Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (Doc. No. 23) is DENIED.  
 

d. With respect to Count IV of the Second Amended Complaint (Doc. No. 22), 
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (Doc. No. 23) is DENIED.  

 
e. With respect to Count V of the Second Amended Complaint (Doc. No. 22), 

Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (Doc. No. 23) is DENIED.  
 

f. With respect to Count VI of the Second Amended Complaint (Doc. No. 22), 
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (Doc. No. 23) is GRANTED. Count VI of the 
Second Amended Complaint DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE.  
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Joseph W. Prince and his wife, Betty Jo Prince, filed this action against BAC Home 

Loans Servicing, L.P., Bank of America N.A., and Citimae Inc., alleging federal and state law 

claims arising from a loan modification agreement for a promissiory note secured by a mortgage 

on their property. Second Amended Compl. (Doc. No. 22). Before this Court is Defendants’ 

Motion to Dismiss the Second Amended Complaint. Despite multiple attempts, Plaintiffs have 

failed to allege three of the six claims for which relief may be provided. Accordingly, 

Defendants’ motion is granted in part and denied in part, and those claims for which the 

Defendants’ motion is granted are dismissed with prejudice.  

I. Factual and Procedural Background 

In 1991, the Princes obtained a fixed-rate loan from Arbor National Mortgage, Inc., 

secured by real property in Yardley, Pennsylvania. Second Amended Compl.,at ¶¶ 2A–2C. The 

Princes allege that their monthly payments began at about $2,700 and later fluctuated without 

explanation to as high as $4,800. Id. at ¶¶ 2D–2G. Plaintiffs also allege that, on multiple 

occasions, they requested an accounting of payments but Defendants did not comply. Id. at ¶¶ 

2H–2I. Nevertheless, Plaintiffs assert, despite the fluctuations, they made timely mortgage 

payments for almost twenty years. Id. at ¶ 2J. 

In March 2010, Bank of America, which had acquired the Princes’ note through a de jure 

merger with BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P., and Citimae, Inc., filed a foreclosure action 

against Plaintiffs in the Bucks County Court of Common Pleas. Id. at ¶¶ 2Y, 2Z, 2AA, 2BB. 

Plaintiffs assert that, in 2010, their business went bankrupt and they incurred extensive medical 

bills after their daughter became ill. Id. at ¶ 2K. They further assert they sought a loan 

modification agreement with Bank of America by submitting an application and supporting 

documents, and Defendants failed to respond for “almost six years.” Id. at ¶¶ 2L–2P, 2Q, 2U, 
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2V. Finally, around September 1, 2015, Plaintiffs entered in a loan modification agreement with 

Bank of America, which then dismissed the foreclosure action. Id. at ¶¶ 2BB–2DD.  

In April 2016, the Princes brought this action, asserting they were harmed because they 

“agreed to a horrible loan modification” to stave off the impending foreclosure sale. Defendants 

moved to dismiss; Plaintiffs responded with an amended complaint. Defendants then filed a 

motion to dismiss the amended complaint. This Court granted in part and denied in part 

Defendants’ motion to dismiss the amended complaint, giving Plaintiffs leave to amend some of 

the claims.  

In the Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs assert largely the same claims: (1) fraud in 

violation of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41; (2) a violation of the Fair Debt Collection 

Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692 et seq.; (3) a violation of the Pennsylvania Unfair Trade 

Practices and Consumer Protection Law (UTPCPL), 73 Pa. C.S. § 201–1 et seq.; (4) breach of 

contract; (5) wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343; and (6) a violation of the Real Estate 

Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA), 12 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq. Defendants have filed a motion to 

dismiss the Second Amended Complaint. Def. Second Mot. to Dismiss (Doc. No. 23). Because 

the Plaintiffs have failed to state a cause of action for which relief can be granted, despite 

multiple attempts, Defendant’s motion to dismiss is granted as to all claims other than the breach 

of contract claim.  

II. Legal Standard on a Motion to Dismiss  

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) authorizes dismissal of a complaint for “failure 

to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.” In evaluating a motion to dismiss under Rule 

12(b)(6), a district court must “accept all factual allegations as true, construe the complaint in the 

light most favorable to the plaintiff, and determine whether, under any reasonable reading of the 
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complaint, the plaintiff may be entitled to relief.” Fowler v. UPMC Shadyside, 578 F.3d 203, 

210 (3d Cir. 2009). A complaint need only contain “a short and plain statement of the claim” that 

pleads “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 

8(a)(2); Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009); Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 

544, 555, 570 (2007). In resolving a motion to dismiss, the court conducts a two-part analysis: 

first, separate the factual and legal elements of a claim, Fowler, 578 F.3d at 210–11, and second, 

determine whether the factual matter in the complaint “state[s] a claim to relief that is plausible 

on its face.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678.  

Ordinarily, a plaintiff must be afforded an opportunity to amend his or her complaint 

when it is dismissed for failure to state a claim, unless a curative amendment “would be 

inequitable or futile.” Phillips v. Cnty. of Allegheny, 515 F.3d 224, 245 (3d Cir. 2008).   

III. Analysis  

This Court has federal question jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims arising under federal 

laws and regulations, and diversity and supplemental jurisdiction over their state law claims. 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1332(a); Franchise Tax Bd. v. Constr. Laborers Vacation Trust, 463 U.S. 1, 27–

28 (1983).  

a. Citimae 

Although Plaintiffs refer to Citimae in passing in the Second Amended Complaint, they 

assert no claim or allegation against the entity. In this Court’s previous order granting in part and 

denying in part Defendants’ motion to dismiss, this Court noted Plaintiffs had pleaded no fact 

concerning Citimae in the Amended Complaint and granted leave to amend. Given that Plaintiffs 

have not done so in the Second Amended Complaint, Citimae is dismissed from this action. See 

Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570 (where a complaint does not plead “enough facts to state a claim to 
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relief that is plausible on its face” with respect to a defendant, the defendant must be dismissed 

from the complaint). 

b. Count I: Fraud in Violation of Regulation Z 

Plaintiffs continues to allege Defendants committed fraud under Pennsylvania law by 

representing that the loan modification application “would be given fair, due and appropriate 

evaluation” and that Defendants made this representation despite knowledge that they “had no 

intention of doing so” and “had no authority and standing to do so.” Second Amended Compl., 

Count I at ¶¶ 2A–C, 3. Plaintiffs allege that such conduct violated Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 

1024.41, which provides for procedures for loss mitigation of loans and requires servicers to take 

certain action upon receipt of a loss modification application. See, e.g., 12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.41(b), 

(c), (d). Additionally, Plaintiffs allege that, after they submitted a loan modification application, 

Defendants failed to respond to the application for “almost six years.” Second Amended Compl., 

Count I at ¶¶ 2O–2Q. Plaintiff assert such conduct constitutes “unconscionable commercial 

practices, deception, theft, unlawful taking and conversion, fraud, false pretense and/or 

misrepresentations” under Pennsylvania law. Id. Count I at ¶ 2. Plaintiffs’ continued attempt to 

assert tort claims under state law is inexplicable, because this Court has previously dismissed 

with prejudice Plaintiff’s tort claims. Order dated Dec. 29, 2016 (Doc. No. 20). Therefore, tort 

claims under Pennsylvania law in the Second Amended Complaint are dismissed with prejudice.  

c. Count II: a Violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

Plaintiffs assert a violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692, et seq., because “Defendants have not provided Plaintiffs with statements, an accounting, 

payoff and reinstatement of debt verification, [and] other information as was requested.” Second 

Amended Compl., Count II at ¶ 5. The FDCPA provides a remedy for consumers who have been 
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subjected to abusive, deceptive, or unfair debt collection practices by debt collectors. Pollice v. 

Nat’l Tax Funding, L.P., 225 F.3d 379, 400 (3d Cir. 2000). A plaintiff must establish four 

elements to state an FDCPA claim: (1) he or she is a “consumer” who is harmed by violations of 

the FDCPA; (2) the “debt” arises out of a transaction entered into primarily for personal, family, 

or household purposes; (3) the defendant collecting the debt is a “debt collector”; and (4) the 

defendant has violated, by act or omission, a provision of the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692a–

1692o; see Berk v. J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., 2011 WL 4467746, at *3 (E.D. Pa. Sept. 26, 

2011). As defined by the Act, a “debt collector” is “any person who uses any instrumentality of 

interstate commerce or the mails in any business the principal purpose of which is the collection 

of any debts, or who regularly collects or attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed or 

due or asserted to be owed or due another.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). An assignee of an obligation 

is not a “debt collector” if the obligation is not in default at the time of the assignment; 

conversely, an assignee may be deemed a “debt collector” if the obligation is already in default 

when it is assigned. Evankavitch v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC, 793 F.3d 355, 358, fn. 2 (3d Cir. 

2015). Further, the Supreme Court recently held that entities that purchase debts originated by 

someone else and then seek to collect those debts for their own account are not “debt collectors” 

subject to the FDCPA. Henson v. Santander Consumer USA Inc., 137 S. Ct. 1718, 1722 (2017). 

Plaintiffs allege that Defendants are debt collectors because “the loan was in default 

when an assignment of mortgage was recorded to this Defendant.” Second Amended Compl., 

Count II at ¶ 8. However, because Defendants owned the Princes’ loan note when they sought to 

collect the debt, Defendants were acting on their own behalf, that is, as creditors rather than debt 
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collectors. Therefore, under Henson, Defendants are not subject to FDCPA.1 Henson, 137 S. Ct. 

at 1722. Accordingly, Defendants’ motion to dismiss this claim is granted, and Plaintiffs’ 

FDCPA claim is dismissed with prejudice.  

d. Count III: Consumer Fraud under Pennsylvania Law  

Next, Plaintiffs allege Defendants engaged in fraudulent and deceptive practices in 

violation of Pennsylvania’s Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law (UTPCPL), 

which prohibits “unfair methods of competition” and “unfair or deceptive acts or practices” in 

the conduct of trade or commerce. 73 Pa. C.S. § 201–3, see Hunt v. U.S. Tobacco Co., 538 F.3d 

217, 221 (3d Cir. 2008), as amended (Nov. 6, 2008); Toy v. Metro. Life Ins. Co., 928 A.2d 186, 

190 n. 4 (Pa. 2007). The statute creates a private right of action, requiring a plaintiff to 

demonstrate (1) unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices were 

employed, and (2) an ascertainable loss suffered as a result of such acts or practices. Hunt, 538 

F.3d at 221 (citing 73 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 201–9.2). Additionally, a plaintiff must show justifiable 

reliance on defendant’s deceptive conduct, not merely a causal connection between the 

misrepresentation and the harm. Id. at 221–22 (citing Weinberg v. Sun Co., 777 A.2d 442, 446 

(Pa. 2001)).  

Plaintiffs allege Defendants violated the UTPCPL by making “erroneous” and “random” 

demands of monthly payments and failing to provide an accounting of payment history. Second 

Amended Compl., Count III at ¶¶ 13–16. Plaintiffs also assert that they relied on Defendants’ 

                                                 
1 Even if Defendants were properly considered debt collectors, Plaintiffs have failed to identify 
which provisions of the Act were violated and how Defendants violated them, despite multiple 
attempts to plead the claim. Although Plaintiffs may be attempting to plead a claim under § 
1692g, which requires debt collectors to provide certain information to a debtor, such as the 
amount of the debt, name of the creditor, and status of the debt, Plaintiffs have not pleaded a 
sufficient basis of their claim. See Jewsevskyj v. Financial Recovery Services, et al., 2017 WL 
2992499, at *2, fn. 6 (3d Cir. July 14, 2017). 
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demands of monthly payments, despite the fluctuations, and paid the amounts demanded. Id. at ¶ 

J (“Since originating the loan, Mr. and Mrs. Prince successfully made timely mortgage payments 

for almost twenty years without incident.”). The factual allegations, accepted as true and 

construed in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs, indicates that Plaintiffs justifiably relied on 

Defendants’ deceptive conduct and were harmed as a result. Therefore, Defendant’s motion to 

dismiss Count III is denied. 

e. Count VI: Breach of Contract 

Under Pennsylvania law, a breach of contract claim requires pleading “(1) the existence 

of a contract, including its essential terms, (2) a breach of a duty imposed by the contract, and (3) 

resultant damages.” Walkup v. Santander Bank, N.A., 147 F. Supp. 3d 349, 363 (E.D. Pa. 2015) 

(citing CoreStates Bank, N.A. v. Cutillo, 723 A.2d 1053, 1058 (Pa. Super. 1999)). Defendants 

contend that Plaintiffs failed to identify which agreement they breached, how Defendants 

breached the agreement, and the resultant harm. This argument is unavailing. Plaintiffs allege 

that Defendants breached “the contractual terms of the loan/note ” by demanding monthly 

payment amounts that fluctuated between $2,700 and $4,800, despite the loan’s fixed interest 

rate. Second Amended. Compl., Count VI at ¶¶ 21–24. Plaintiffs also allege that they paid these 

fluctuating monthly amounts. Id. at ¶ J. Therefore, Defendants’ motion to dismiss the breach of 

contract claim is denied.  

f. Count V: Wire Fraud  

This Court previously noted that there is no private cause of action for a violation of the 

federal mail and wire fraud statutes. Order dated Dec. 29, 2016 (Doc. No. 20); see also 

Addlespurger v. Corbett, 461 F. App’x 82, 87 (3d Cir. 2012); see Hemi Grp., LLC v. City of 

N.Y., N.Y., 559 U.S. 1, 6, (2010); Tabas v. Tabas, 47 F.3d 1280, 1290 (3d Cir. 1995). In the 
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Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs attempt to plead a claim alleging a pattern of 

racketeering under the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”), 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1962(c).  A civil RICO claim requires proof of four elements: (1) the existence of an enterprise 

engaged in or affecting interstate commerce; (2) that the defendant was employed by or 

associated with the enterprise; (3) that the defendant participated, directly or indirectly, in the 

conduct or the affairs of the enterprise; and (4) that the defendant participated through a pattern 

of racketeering activity that must include the allegation of at least two racketeering acts. Annulli 

v. Panikkar, 200 F.3d 189, 198 (3d Cir. 1999); see Munsif v. Cassel, 331 F. App’x 954, 958 (3d 

Cir. 2009). A plaintiff must allege “at least two acts of racketeering activity” within a ten year 

period. Pub. L. 91–452, Title IX, 84 Stat. 941, as amended, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961–1968. All 

predicate acts are, by definition, crimes. See 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1) (defining “racketeering 

activity” as any act chargeable under state criminal laws or any act indictable under federal 

laws). 

Defendants’ main argument for dismissing this claim is that Plaintiffs have not pleaded 

an injury to their business or property. However, Plaintiffs allege, although their loan had a fixed 

interest rate and their monthly payments began at about $2,700, Defendants demanded, without 

explanation, monthly payment amounts that were as high as $4,800. Second Amended 

Compl.,Count III at ¶¶ 2D–2G. Despite the fluctuations, Plaintiffs made timely mortgage 

payments for almost twenty years. Id. at ¶ 2J. In addition, on multiple occasions, Plaintiffs 

requested an accounting of payments but Defendants did not comply. Id. at ¶¶ 2H–2I. The 

factual allegations, accepted as true and construed in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs, 

indicate that Plaintiffs suffered financial injury that may partly form the basis of a civil RICO 

claim. Therefore, Defendants’ motion to dismiss Count V is denied.  
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g. Count VI: a Violation of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”) 

A plaintiff who claims a RESPA violation must allege not only a breach of a duty 

required by RESPA, but also that the breach caused him to suffer actual damages. See 12 U.S.C. 

§ 2605(f)(1)(A); Wilson, 48 F. Supp. 3d at 799. A potentially relevant duty under RESPA to the 

instant matter is that the servicer shall “[p]romptly upon receipt of a loss mitigation application, 

review the loss mitigation application to determine if the loss mitigation application is 

complete[,]” and, within five days, acknowledge receipt of the application and indicate whether 

the application is complete. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41. Construed in the light most favorable to 

Plaintiffs, the Second Amended Complaint indicates that, at some point during or after 2010, 

when Plaintiffs experienced financial difficulty, they contacted Defendants for a loan 

modification. Second Amended Compl., at ¶ M. Following Plaintiffs’ initiation of discussion 

regarding a loan modification, “[o]n various occasions, Defendants indicated that it would extend 

a loan modification, as long as Mr. and Mrs. Prince submitted formal loan modification 

application and supporting documents.” Id. at ¶ N. It appears that Plaintiffs submitted an 

application, and “Defendants repeatedly requested documents and forms in addition to these 

applications.” Id. at ¶ O. Plaintiffs contend that it was “almost six years after the process started” 

when they finally receive a loan modification from Defendants. Id. at ¶ Q. Although Plaintiffs 

contend that “[t]he lack of action on the Plaintiffs’ application, including the lack of a denial” 

was a violation of RESPA, id., Count VI at ¶ 35, Plaintiffs entered into a loan modification 

agreement in 2015, indicating that Defendants did respond. Instead, the crux of the claim is 

whether, upon receipt of an application, Defendants timely reviewed it for completeness, and 

informed Plaintiffs whether the application was complete. Plaintiffs have not pleaded any detail 

as to the timing of their submission of an application, Defendants’ response regarding the 
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completeness of the application, or the subsequent back and forth. Because Plaintiffs have had 

multiple opportunities to adequately plead a claim and have failed to do so, the claim is 

dismissed with prejudice.  

IV. Conclusion  

For the above-stated reasons, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss is granted in part and 

denied in part.  

 
BY THE COURT: 
 

        /s/ Legrome D. Davis 
 
Legrome D. Davis, J.  
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